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Chapter 19

Switzerland
Arioli Law

1 Regulatory Framework
1.1

Are there any national laws that specifically regulate
outsourcing transactions?

No, Swiss law does not specifically regulate outsourcing
transactions. Of course, mandatory statutory provisions must be
adhered to that govern certain aspects of outsourcing transactions,
such as employment law, data protection law and merger law. For
industry-specific regulatory requirements cf. question 1.2.

Martina Arioli

c)

There are no specific regulatory requirements applicable
to the telecoms sector. Of course, telecoms providers are
subject to telecoms regulations.

1.3

Are there any further legal or regulatory requirements
for outsourcing transactions in any particular industry
sector?

The healthcare sector is subject to extended secrecy obligations which
render additional safeguards in outsourcing contracts necessary.
1.4

1.2

Are there any additional legal or regulatory
requirements for certain types of outsourcing
transactions, for example: a) public sector
transactions; b) business process transactions; c)
financial services transactions; d) IT transactions;
and e) telecommunications transactions?

There are additional requirements for some types of outsourcing
transactions:
a)

b)

Business process outsourcing is not regulated. However,
the customer to an F&A BPO must comply with Swiss
laws pertaining to annual reports, audit reports, storage
of accounting records and supporting documents; such
obligations need to be addressed in the outsourcing contract
with the supplier.

c)

The Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA
has issued its revised Outsourcing Circular 2018/03,
applicable as of 1 April 2018, which contains the regulatory
requirements for outsourcing by banks, securities dealers as
well as (new) insurance companies. The Outsourcing Circular
2018/03 contains provisions on the selection, instruction
and control of suppliers, including a comprehensive audit
right, as well as provisions to secure availability of data.
The provisions on data protection contained in the previous
FINMA outsourcing circular have been dropped to avoid
inconsistencies with general data protection laws.

d)
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Outsourcing by the public sector is regulated on a federal and
cantonal level by public procurement law and a mandatory
competitive tender process must be held if certain thresholds
are met. Switzerland is a signatory to the WTO Government
Procurement Agreement and has entered into a bilateral
agreement with the EU on certain aspects of government
procurement. However, given Switzerland is not a member
of the EU, it is not required to implement the EC public
procurement directives into national law.

There are no specific regulatory requirements applicable to
the IT sector.

Is there a requirement for an outsourcing transaction
to be governed by local law? If it is not to be local
law, is there any generally accepted norm relating to
the choice of governing law?

No, there is no requirement for an outsourcing transaction to be
governed by Swiss law; however, the norm is for the parties to choose
the law applicable at the domicile of the customer. Irrespective of
the choice of law, mandatory Swiss law overrides any contractual
provision to the contrary.

2 Legal Structure
2.1

What are the most common types of legal structure
used for an outsourcing transaction?

Generally, the outsourcing relationship is based on a master services
agreement between two independent companies. For global
outsourcing transactions involving multiple group entities, the
contractual structure is more complex: in a centralised contractual
set up, the customer procures the supplier services on behalf of its
group affiliates, whereas in a decentralised contractual set up, the
customer affiliates procure services from the supplier directly as
contractual parties.
Further, the customer and supplier may choose to set up a joint venture
or enter into a contractual joint venture or partnership agreement. The
customer may also establish an (offshore) captive entity.

3 Procurement Process
3.1

What is the most common type of procurement
process that is used to select a supplier?

Most private companies issue a request for proposal (RFP) to
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For public procurement, the processes set out in federal and cantonal
public procurement law need to be complied with. A direct award is
only permitted in exceptional circumstances.

4 Term of an Outsourcing Agreement
4.1

Does national or local law impose any maximum or
minimum term for an outsourcing contract?

No, there are no mandatory minimum or maximum terms for an
outsourcing contract, the parties are free to determine the duration.
Typically, outsourcing agreements have a fixed term of three to 10
years with automatic renewal unless terminated. In recent years we
have seen a shift to shorter terms.
4.2

Does national or local law regulate the length of
the notice period that is required to terminate an
outsourcing contract?

No, there are no mandatory notice periods for outsourcing contracts.
However, when negotiating a notice period, the customer should
take into account the time it takes to insource or resource the
services obtained by the supplier.

5 Charging
5.1

What are the most common charging methods used in
outsourcing transactions?

The most common charging methods include cost plus (actual
costs incurred by supplier plus a pre-agreed profit margin), fixed
pricing for regular and predictable volume and scope of services, or
consumption/transaction-based charging.
5.2

What other key terms are used in relation to costs in
outsourcing transactions?

The outsourcing agreement should provide for a mechanism for cost
control and adequate adjustment of charges, including:
■

charge variation mechanisms;

■

change management procedures;

■

service level credits or bonus/malus;

■

measures to share cost savings between the parties and
provide an incentive to the supplier to achieve these;

■

auditing;

■

benchmarking;

■

disputed charges; and

■

pre-agreed inflation adjuster.

6 Transfer of Assets
6.1

What formalities are required to transfer, lease or
license assets on an outsourcing transaction?

Swiss law prescribes a public deed only for the transfer of land. For
the transfer of other assets such as intellectual property, the written
form is recommended. Further, transfers of trademarks and patents
need to be entered into the respective registries.
6.2

Switzerland

selected suppliers. With an RFP the customer is in the position
to define key legal terms of the outsourcing agreement at an early
stage and, upon assessing the submissions, select the supplier based
upon the adherence to such legal terms in addition to the service
quality and the commercial terms offered. Given a fully blown
RFP process can be costly and time consuming, some companies
choose to simply issue an invitation to tender or enter directly into
negotiations with a preferred supplier based upon the customer’s or
supplier’s standard contracts.

Switzerland

What are the formalities for the transfer of land?

Any transfer of land must be based on a written and notarised
contract (public deed). In addition, the entry into the land register
is generally constitutive for the transfer of land (exceptions apply
for transfers according to the Swiss Merger Act). In addition, some
transfers of land may be subject to further authorisations. Land
acquisition in Switzerland by a non-Swiss resident may be subject to
an authorisation by the competent cantonal authority unless certain
exceptions apply, such as acquiring land for living or commercial
real estate. Similarly, in order to transfer any contaminated site, an
authorisation of the competent cantonal authority is required.
6.3

What post-completion matters must be attended to?

See question 6.4 below.
6.4

How is the transfer registered?

Transfers of trademarks and patents need to be entered into the
respective registries administered by the Swiss Federal Institute of
Intellectual Property.
The transfer of land must be entered into a cantonal land register, which
is generally constitutive for the transfer (see also question 6.2 above).

7 Employment Law
7.1

When are employees transferred by operation of law?

Article 333 of the Swiss Code of Obligations (“CO”) stipulates
that if the employer assigns its business or a business unit to an
acquirer, the employment relationship of any employee affected
automatically transfers to the acquirer unless the affected employee
objects to such transfer. This also applies to mergers, splits or asset
transfers in accordance with Article 27 of the Swiss Merger Act.
The previous employer is obliged to inform or consult with the
employees’ representatives or, if there is no representation, with the
employees themselves in good time before the transfer takes place
(Article 333a CO).
7.2

On what terms would a transfer by operation of law
take place?

The employment agreements are automatically transferred to the
acquirer on essentially all existing terms and conditions, including
benefits granted under the employment agreement or based on
a collective bargaining agreement, as well as accrued holiday
entitlements. After the transfer, the acquirer can modify the
employment terms, see question 7.5.
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The former employer and the acquirer are jointly and severally
liable for employee’s claims which (i) are due prior to the transfer,
or (ii) will become due up to the date the employment relationship
can effectively be terminated or until its actual termination based on
the employee’s objection to the transfer.
7.3

Upon transfer, the acquirer must be provided with all necessary
information for the performance of the employment agreements in
order for the acquirer to fulfil its obligations as employer.
Is a customer/supplier allowed to dismiss an
employee for a reason connected to the outsourcing?

As a rule, such termination would contravene Article 333 CO.
However, if the respective notice period is observed, the employment
agreement may be terminated after or even prior to the transfer.
7.5

8 Data Protection Issues and Information
Security
8.1

What employee information should the parties provide
to each other?

There is no statutory rule on what information must be exchanged
by the parties to an outsourcing agreement. Prior to the transfer
date, the data on employees disclosed to the acquirer must be limited
to a “need to know” basis and should be anonymised to the extent
possible. Information may include details on employment terms
and conditions, function, seniority level, salary and notice period.

7.4

Switzerland

Is a supplier allowed to harmonise the employment
terms of a transferring employee with those of its
existing workforce?

Yes, after the transfer the new employer may modify the employment
terms of the transferring employee subject to the employee’s consent
and provided that the modification pertains to non-material aspects
only.

Given Switzerland is not a member of the EU, the GDPR does not
apply in Switzerland. However, in multijurisdictional outsourcings,
under Article 3 (2) GDPR, the GDPR may apply to an outsourcing or
parts thereof. Thus, a data processing agreement in compliance with
Article 28 GDPR must be included in the outsourcing agreement.
Such data processing agreement shall also include the technical and
organisational data security measures implemented by the supplier.
The Federal Data Protection Act is currently being revised. It is
expected that similar provisions pertaining to data processing as
well as transfer of data to a country without adequate level of data
protection will be implemented.
In addition, industry sector-specific regulatory requirements may
apply that govern data security and data protection matters.
Under the current Federal Data Protection Act, the following
requirements for outsourcing transactions apply:
■

the parties must conclude a written processing agreement;

■

personal data may only be processed by the supplier in
accordance with the purpose defined and within the limits of
the processing permitted to the customer itself and pursuant
to the instructions of the customer;

■

the processing of personal data must not be prohibited by a
statutory or contractual duty of confidentiality; and

■

the customer shall ensure that the supplier provides for data
security in accordance with the requirements of the Ordinance
to the Federal Act on Data Protection by implementing
adequate technical and organisational measures, taking into
account the purpose as well as the nature and extent of the
processing, an assessment of the possible risks to the data
subjects and the current state of the art. The technical and
organisational measures shall ensure the confidentiality,
availability and the integrity of the data by protecting the data
from unauthorised or accidental destruction, accidental loss,
technical faults, forgery, theft or unlawful use, unauthorised
alteration, copying, access or other unauthorised processing.

The acquirer may also terminate the employment agreements
and offer new agreements on changed terms of employment
(constructive dismissal). The new terms can enter into force only
once the contractual notice periods have expired.
7.6

Are there any pensions considerations?

When employees are transferred under Article 333 CO, the
employees’ vested benefits under the former employer’s pension
scheme are transferred to the acquirer’s pension scheme. After the
transfer, the employees’ pension benefits are calculated according to
the new scheme’s regulations.
If the workforce that forms part of the former employer’s pension
scheme reduces substantially, the respective pension scheme must
be partially liquidated. The employees then have individual or
collective claims to a portion of the non-committed funds (free
reserves) in addition to their ordinary claims to the vested benefit.
7.7

Are there any offshore outsourcing considerations?

If the outsourcing agreement entails the transfer of business offshore,
the parties need to assess whether the employment contracts of the
affected employees actually transfer by operation of law given
Article 333 CO only applies if the business concerned preserves its
identity post-transfer.

What are the most material legal or regulatory
requirements and issues concerning data security
and data protection that may arise on an outsourcing
transaction? Are there independent legal and/or
regulatory requirements concerning information
security?

For cases of cross-border outsourcing, the Swiss Federal Data
Protection and Information Commissioner provides a sample Swiss
Transborder Data Flow Agreement, which allows data processors
to comply with the requirements stipulated in the Federal Data
Protection Act regarding cross-border data transfers.
As the customer remains liable towards the data subject for the
compliant handling of personal data by the supplier, and reflecting
the growing importance of data protection, there is a tendency not
to apply a liability cap for breaches of data protection or other
regulatory requirements in outsourcing agreements.

9 Tax Issues
9.1

What are the tax issues on transferring the
outsourced business – either on entering into or
terminating the contract?

The transfer of assets may trigger corporate income taxes, real estate
transfer tax, federal securities transfer tax, and VAT.
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Intragroup outsourcing must be at arm’s length and in line with
general transfer pricing principles.
The termination of contracts without adequate compensation and/or
a notice period may give rise to taxation of a constructive dividend/
profit shift. According to prevailing doctrine, the mere shift of
functions should not be taxed.
9.2

Is there any VAT leakage on the supply of services
under the outsourcing contract?

Pursuant to Swiss law, every transfer of assets to the supplier
constitutes a supply of goods or services and is, in principle, subject
to VAT. If transferred assets are part of a transferred business entity,
VAT must be notified.

Switzerland
relating to contracts for work and services, to sales contracts and to
corporations. Consequently, the applicable statutory provisions and
corresponding remedies are highly dependent on what contractual
obligations of the outsourcing agreement have been breached.
Given the statutory provisions are not mandatory, the parties are
free to determine remedies in the outsourcing agreement, such as:
■

remediation of defects within determined time limits,
including, e.g. replacement of hardware;

■

monetary compensation for damages, including liquidated
damages;

■

reduction of outsourcing fees;

■

step-in rights; and

■

termination or rescission of the outsourcing agreement.

Intragroup outsourcing may result in a VAT leakage, which can be
neutralised by group taxation.

11.2 What additional protections could be included in the
contract documentation to protect the customer?

9.3

Additional protection measures may include:

What other tax issues may arise?

For multijurisdictional outsourcings, it is recommended to consider
holistic tax planning in order to avoid double taxation, to reduce
source income taxes and, for intragroup outsourcings, identify tax
optimising measures.

10		

Service Levels

10.1 What is the usual approach with regard to service
levels and service credits?

The definition of Service Levels and Service Credits depends
entirely on the outsourcing transaction and differs considerably
depending on whether the outsourcing pertains to IT services,
business processes, facility management, etc.
In the Statement of Work the parties define the services to be provided
and the service levels, and the service criteria by which performance
can be measured (key performance indicators). This entails detailed
reporting and monitoring. In the event that the supplier does not
achieve the agreed upon service levels, a (relatively small) amount
is deducted from the service fees payable to the supplier as a service
credit. Service credits for a specific time period are usually capped
at an at-risk amount in the range of 5% and 15% of the fees due in
that particular time period.
The service credits shall incentivise the supplier to consistently
achieve the agreed service levels and to facilitate a partial
compensation of the customer for poor service without the need to
pursue a claim for damages or terminate the agreement.
Service credits are typically the sole remedy of the customer for
the particular failure concerned, however, without prejudice to the
customer’s more extensive rights in relation to more serious contract
breaches or persistent performance failures.

11		 Customer Remedies
11.1 What remedies are available to the customer under
general law if the supplier breaches the contract?

Swiss law does not contain specific statutory provisions governing
the outsourcing agreement and contract breach. Moreover,
outsourcing agreements contain elements of the statutory provisions

■

regular charge or a service provision review mechanism;

■

contract change management; and

■

audit and benchmarking.

Switzerland

Arioli Law

11.3 What are the typical warranties and/or indemnities
that are included in an outsourcing contract?

The parties are free to choose the warranties and/or indemnities best
suited to their needs and the type of outsourcing transaction.
Typical warranties and/or indemnities in outsourcing agreements
include:
■

warranties for hardware and software;

■

warranties for the diligent performance of the services with
reasonable skill and care, in a timely and professional manner
and in accordance with applicable laws and recognised
industry standards;

■

warranties regarding information provided during the tender
phase and due diligence;

■

indemnities for the infringement of third party intellectual
property rights;

■

warranties to be entitled to enter into the outsourcing
agreement; and

■

indemnities with regards to claims put forward by affected
employees transferred to supplier.

12		

Insurance

12.1 What types of insurance should be considered in
order to cover the risks involved in an outsourcing
transaction?

It is recommended that both parties to an outsourcing have sufficient
personal liability and property insurance, professional liability
insurance, corporate liability insurance, directors’ and officers’
liability insurance and legal protection insurance in place.
Further, contingent business interruption insurance and cybersecurity
insurance have become more and more available in Switzerland.
In the past decade, there has been a shift from the mere assumption
that an outsourcing supplier has the requisite insurance coverage in
place to explicit contractual obligations to obtain adequate insurance
policies and provide the customers with copies thereof.
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13		

Termination

Switzerland
agreement should explicitly regulate that use of any IP rights posttermination.

13.1 How can a party to an outsourcing agreement
terminate the agreement without giving rise to a claim
for damages from the terminated party?

14.4 To what extent can the customer gain access to the
supplier’s know-how post-termination and what use
can it make of it?

Given that Swiss law does not provide for specific termination
provisions as regards outsourcing, the parties typically agree on
termination for cause and termination for convenience, including the
applicable notice periods. In particular, as regards termination for
material breach, it is recommended that scenarios that constitute such
material breach are specifically agreed on and respective contractual
obligations are spelt out. If a party adheres to the contractually stipulated
termination provisions, claims for damages from the terminated party
should not arise. However, this does not necessarily preclude direct
discussions on whether a breach may be deemed material or not.

It is highly recommended to agree on specific obligations of the
incumbent supplier post-termination to ensure know-how transfer
to the customer or new supplier and to oblige the incumbent supplier
to assist in the smooth transfer of the services to the customer or
new supplier. Of course, the incumbent supplier typically cannot be
forced to share confidential business information with a competitor.

13.2 Can the parties exclude or agree additional
termination rights?

15		

Liability

15.1 To what extent can a party limit or exclude liability
under national law?

Yes, the parties are free to exclude or agree upon additional
termination rights such as insolvency events, change of control,
multiple/persistent minor breaches.

Pursuant to Swiss law, the parties cannot exclude or limit liability
for damages caused by intent or gross negligence. Further, it is not
possible to exclude or limit liability for death or personal injury
resulting from a negligent breach of contract.

13.3 Are there any mandatory local laws that might
override the termination rights that one might expect
to see in an outsourcing contract?

Typically, the supplier aims to extensively exclude liability for
indirect and consequential loss or damages, for loss of business,
profit or revenue. By contrast, the customer typically aims to have
such damages contractually deemed as direct damages.

Pursuant to Swiss law, any long-term agreement can be terminated
with immediate effect for important reasons that render it
unreasonable for the aggrieved party to uphold the agreement.

14		

Intellectual Property

14.1 How are the intellectual property rights of each party
protected in an outsourcing transaction?

Typically, the parties agree on the rights to use pre-existing IP and
the allocation of rights in materials developed in the context of the
outsourcing agreement (“work products”). Further, depending on
the transaction, the transfer of ownership in IP or the assignment
of licences may be agreed upon. It is advisable to specifically
detail any and all IP in the outsourcing agreement in order to avoid
difficult termination negotiations.
14.2 Are know-how, trade secrets and other business
critical confidential information protected by local law?

The Federal Act Against Unfair Competition and the Criminal
Code provide for penalties for the breach of trade secrets and the
exploitation of such secrets.
It is recommended to protect know-how, trade secrets and other
business critical confidential information by extensive confidentiality
clauses in the outsourcing agreement that provides for penalties to
be paid in the event of breach.
14.3 Are there any implied rights for the supplier to
continue to use licensed IP rights post-termination
and can these be excluded from the agreement?

15.2 Are the parties free to agree a financial cap on liability?

Yes, the parties may agree on a financial limit on liability and
indemnities, subject to the limitations set out in question 15.1. The
cap can be a fixed amount or a percentage of the contract value.

16		

Dispute Resolution

16.1 What are the main methods of dispute resolution used?

There are no main methods for dispute resolution used in Switzerland
and there are no statutory rules on contract management, governance
and escalation in Swiss contract law. Thus, it is recommended
that detailed provisions are included in the outsourcing agreement
governing a dispute resolution process before a party can resort to a
court or arbitration. Any dispute resolution process must, however,
be limited to a resolution time period to ensure expedited resolution.
Further, an outsourcing agreement may include provisions on
alternative dispute resolution (“ADR”).

17		

Good Faith

17.1 Is there any overriding requirement for a customer
and supplier to act in good faith and to act fairly
according to some objective test of fairness or
reasonableness under general law?

Yes, Swiss law stipulates the general principle that parties must act
in good faith (Article 2 of the Swiss Civil Code).

No, there are no such implied rights. Accordingly, the outsourcing
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